UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FIFTH O RCU T

No. 92-4674

(Summary Cal endar)

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
Bl LLY G KECKLER,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Western District of Louisiana
(CR-91-50095-01)

(March 4, 1993)
Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES, and EMLIO M GARZA, G rcuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Defendant, Billy Keckler, was convicted of willfully aiding
and assisting in the preparation of a false Form W2-G (St at enent
for Recipients of Certain Ganbling Wnnings) to the Internal
Revenue Service ("IRS"), in violation of 26 U S C 8§ 7206(2)
(1988). Keckler was sentenced to twelve nonths inprisonnment. He
chal l enges his conviction and sentence on several grounds, but

finding no abuse of discretion or error, we affirm

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of
opi ni ons that have no precedential value and nerely decide
particul ar cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw
i nposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the | egal
profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published.



I

In June 1989, Keckl er approached LI oyd W1 kins, the hol der of
a Super Six winning ticket at the Louisiana Downs racetrack, and
asked to cash the wnning ticket. After obtaining WIkins's
consent, Keckler cashed the ticket and conpleted the required IRS
formin his nane. Based upon the information contained in the
form racetrack personnel issued a W2-G form in Keckler's nane,
reflecting winnings of $108,792.80 and that $21,248 had been
wthheld to pay the federal inconme tax due on the w nnings.
Keckl er attached the W2-G form to his 1989 federal incone tax
return to support a portion of a deduction for previously paid
federal incone taxes.

Keckler was originally indicted for assisting in the
presentation of a false FormW-Gto the IRSin April 1991 and nade
his initial appearance before a magistrate in May 1991. Keckler
filed a notion to dismss the indictnent for a violation of the
Speedy Trial Act! in Cctober 1991, and the district court di sm ssed

the indictment wthout prejudice. Keckler was re-indicted for the

. In any case in which a plea of not guilty i
entered, the trial of a defendant charged
an information or indictnment wwth the
comm ssion of an offense shall commence
within seventy days fromthe filing date (and
maki ng public) of the information or
indictnment, or fromthe date the defendant
has appeared before a judicial officer of the
court in which such charge is pending,
whi chever date | ast occurs.

S
n

18 U.S.C. § 3161(c)(1) (1988).



sane of fense and was convicted by a jury. Keckler was sentenced to
twel ve nonths i nprisonnent, along with one year supervised rel ease
and a special assessnent of $50. 00.

Keckl er appeal s his conviction and sentence, arguing that the
district court: (1) abused its discretion in dismssing wthout
prejudice the first indictnment filed against him (2) abused its
discretion in admtting evidence of other bad acts under Fed. R
Evid. 404(b); (3) erred in not instructing the jury of a |esser-
i ncluded offense; and (4) erred in calculating his base offense

| evel under the sentencing guidelines.

I

A
Keckler first argues that the district court abused its
discretion in dismssing without prejudice the initial indictnent
filed against him based on a violation of the Speedy Trial Act.
See Brief for Keckler at 5-9. W review a district court's
dism ssal of a case, with or wthout prejudice, pursuant to the
Speedy Trial Act, for abuse of discretion. United States .
Mel gui zo, 824 F.2d 370, 371 (5th Gr. 1987), cert. denied, 487 U S.
1218, 108 S. C. 2870, 101 L. Ed. 2d 906 (1988). "[When the

statutory factors? are properly considered, and supporting factual

2 In determ ning whether to dism ss the case
wth or without prejudice, the court shal
consi der, anong others, each of the follow ng
factors: the seriousness of the offense; the
facts and circunstances of the case which |ed
to the dismssal; and the inpact of a
reprosecution on the admnistration of this
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findings are not clearly in error, the district court's judgnent of
how opposing considerations balance should not |ightly be
disturbed.” United States v. Taylor, 487 U S. 326, 333, 108 S. Ct.
2413, 2420, 101 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1988).

At the hearing on Keckler's notion to dism ss the indictnent,
the district court, for reasons given orally, dismssed the
i ndi ctment wi thout prejudice. See Supplenental Record on Appeal at
tab. 2. Keckl er has not provided us with a transcript of that
hearing, or a statenent of the oral reasons given by the district
court. At a later hearing held on a notion to dism ss the second
indictnment, the district court stated that it was relying on the
sane reasons given at the previous hearing in denying the notion.
See Record on Appeal, vol. 2, at 22-23. The district court's
ruling at that tinme suggested that it had considered the rel evant
statutory factors, but the court did not articulate how it
evaluated each of the factors with respect to the particular
circunstances of this case. See id.

Because Keckler contends that the district court inproperly
wei ghed the factors under 8§ 3162(a)(2) in dismssing the indictnent
W t hout prejudice, see Brief for Keckler at 5-9, he had the burden
of providing us the transcript of the hearing on his notion to

dismiss the indictnent.® |f a transcript was unavail abl e, Keckl er

chapter and on the adm nistration of justice.

18 U.S.C. § 3162(a)(2) (1988).

3 "I'f the appellant intends to urge on appeal that a
finding or conclusion is unsupported by the evidence or is
contrary to the evidence, the appellant shall include in the
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had t he option of preparing a statenent of the proceedings fromthe
best available neans, serving the sanme on the appellee, and
obt ai ni ng an approval of the statenent by the district court. See
Fed. R App. P. 10(c). Because Keckler has not filed a transcri pt
or sone record of the district court's reasons for the dism ssal of
the indictnment without prejudice, we decline to review the issue.
See Alizadeh v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 910 F.2d 234, 237 (5th Cr.
1990) (refusing to consider issue on appeal where party))who
contended that trial court's finding not supported by the
evidence))failed to provide appellate court with a transcript of
t he proceedi ngs).
B

Keckl er next argues that the district court erredin admtting
evi dence that he sought to cash other person's winning tickets and
that he tried to obtain large losing tickets of others, because
t hat evi dence had no probative value and was highly prejudicial.*

See Brief for Keckler at 10. Keckl er further argues that the

record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such finding or
conclusion.” See Fed. R App. P. 10(b)(2).

4 Rul e 404(b) provides:

Evi dence of other crines, wongs, or acts is
not adm ssible to prove the character of a
person in order to show action in conformty
therewith. |t may, however, be adm ssible
for other purposes, such as proof of notive,
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan,

know edge, identity, or absence of m stake or
acci dent.

Fed. R Evid. 404(b).



district court erred in admtting his 1989 Form 1040. See id. at
11. W review a district court's determination as to the
adm ssibility of Rule 404(b) evidence for abuse of discretion. See
United States v. Miye, 951 F.2d 59, 61 (5th Gr. 1992).

To be adm ssible, Rule 404(b) evidence "nust be relevant to
sonme issue other than the defendant's character, and . . . its
probative value nust be greater than its potential to unfairly
prejudice the jury." United States v. Gonzal ez-Lira, 936 F. 2d 184,
189 (5th Gr. 1991) (citing United States v. Beechum 582 F.2d 898,
911 (5th Gr. 1978) (en banc), cert. denied, 440 U S. 920, 99 S
Ct. 1244, 59 L. Ed. 2d 472 (1979)). The evidence admtted was
rel evant® because it reflected Keckler's nodus operandi, that he
intentionally executed the fal se docunent, and his notive for doing
so. See Gonzal ez-Lira, 936 F.2d at 189 (holding that Rule 404(Db)
evidence is adm ssible "to establish the defendant's know edge or
intent, or a particular nodus operandi of the defendant").
Furthernore, the probative value of the evidence as proof of
Keckler's intent and lack of mstake and know edge, was not
substanti al |l y out wei ghed by any prejudice to Keckl er, and thus, the
district court did not abuse its discretion in admtting the
evi dence.

C

Keckl er also contends that the district court erred in not

5 The governnent had to prove that Keckler willfully
ai ded and assisted in the preparation of a fraudul ent docunent,
reflecting income and w thhol dings not attributable to him for
presentation to the IRS. See 26 U S.C. § 7206(2) (1988).
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instructing the jury that it could find himguilty of a |esser-
i ncluded of fense. Brief for Keckler at 13-14. Whether a defendant
isentitled to a lesser-included jury instruction is a question of
| aw whi ch we review de novo. See United States v. Doyle, 956 F.2d
73, 74 (5th CGr. 1992) (reviewing de novo whether defendant
entitled to | esser-included offense instruction).

"A defendant is entitled to a |esser-included offense
instruction when the el enents of the | esser of fense are a subset of
the el enents of the charged offense and the evidence would permt
the jury to rationally conclude that the defendant was guilty of
the | esser offense but not guilty of the charged offense.” Doyle,
956 F.2d at 74. Keckler contends that the el enments of the offense
contained in 18 U S.C. §8 7207 (1988), are a subset of the elenents
of the charged of fense. W disagree. Section 7207 requires proof
of "the wllful filing of a docunent known to be false or
fraudulent in any material manner." Sansone v. United States, 380
U S 343, 352, 85 S.Ct 1004, 1010, 13 L. Ed. 2d 882 (1965); see 26
U S C § 7207. In contrast, § 7206(2)))the charged
of fense))requires that the governnent prove that the defendant
wllfully assisted another in the preparation or presentation of a
fal se tax return or ot her docunentation required under the internal
revenue laws. United States v. WIllianms, 809 F.2d 1072, 1095 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 896, 108 S. C. 229, 98 L. Ed. 2d 187
(1987); see 26 U.S.C. 8 7206(2) (stating that the person presenting
the return need not know of its falsity). Because the elenents of

the offense contained in 8 7207 are not a subset of the el ements of
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t he charged of fense, Keckler was not entitled to a | esser-included
of fense instruction.
D

Lastly, Keckler clains that the district court erred in
calculating his base offense |evel because it considered his tax
return from 1988 as part of his relevant conduct.® W review de
novo the district court's interpretation of the sentencing
guidelines. United States v. Wiite, 945 F.2d 100, 101 (5th Cr
1991). We construe the district court's decision to consider
Keckler's 1988 tax return in its base offense calculation as an
interpretation of the guidelines, and therefore apply the de novo
standard of review. See id.

"In determining the total tax | oss attributable to the offense

all conduct violating the tax | aws shoul d be considered as

part of the same course of conduct or common schene or plan unl ess
the evidence denonstrates that the conduct is clearly unrelated.™

US S GS§ 2T1.3, comment. (n.3). The 82T1.3 commentary al so nakes

6 In preparing the Presentence Report ("PSR'), the
probation officer noted that the base offense level for a §
7206(2) offense is determned by the tax loss resulting fromthe
def endant's assisting another in the subm ssion of false
docunentation to the IRS. See PSR f 12; U S. S. G 82T1.4. The
probation officer noted that under the guidelines the tax loss is
cal cul ated as 28% of the taxable incone understated by the
defendant. See PSR {1 12; U. S.S. G 82T1.3. Because Keckl er
reported $97,872 in ganbling | osses on his 1989 return, the
probation officer calculated the 1989 tax | oss for sentencing
purposes to be $27,404.16. See PSR T 12. Keckler clained
$217,553 in race track losses in 1988 resulting in a tax | oss of
$60,914.84. Based on a total tax |oss of $88,319, the probation
of ficer reconmmended a base offense |level of 12. See id. | 15;
US S G 82T4.1(G. The district court adopted that
recomendati on at Keckler's sentencing hearing. See Record on
Appeal, vol. 3, at 13.
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reference to application note 3 followng § 2T1. 1. | d. Note 3
sets out exanples of illustrative conduct to be considered in
determning a tax loss, which includes the use of a consistent
method to evade or canouflage incone and repeated violations
involving false or inflated clainms of a simlar deduction.
US S G 82T1.1, coment. (n.3).

The PSR reveal ed that Keckler obtained losing tickets of
others to use as deductions on his inconme tax returns and cashed
W nning tickets of others in order to inflate the anmount of incone
tax withheld from his inconme during the 1988 and 1989 racing
seasons. PSR 11 7, 9. Keckler did not rebut the evidence in the
PSR t hat he engaged regularly in tax fraud in order to reduce his
taxabl e i ncone. Accordingly, the district court was free to adopt
the findings in the PSR w thout further inquiry. See United States
v. Sherbak, 950 F.2d 1095, 1099-1100 (5th Gr. 1992). Thus, his
conduct in 1988 constituted relevant conduct which was properly
considered by the district court in determining the tax |oss
attributable to Keckler. Accordingly, the district court did not
err in determning that the tax |loss generated by Keckler's
activities exceeded $70, 000 and sentencing himon the basis of an

of fense | evel of 12.

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM



